MINUTES APPROVED:
11/05/2025
TOWN OF FERRISBURGH
ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT
DRAFT MINUTES
WEDNESDAY October 1, 2025
At Town Offices and on Zoom

Members Present: Norm Smith, Dave Mentzer, Diane Nadon, Katie Quinn, Bob Beach

Members Absent: Mike Delaney

Minute Taker: Robyn King

Town staff present: Katie Hill, Zoning Administrator, Jean Richardson (Planning Commission), Bonnie
Barnes (Planning Commission)

Applicants present: Jeff Blasius, Chris Hale, Todd Hardie, Scott Baker

Others present: Joe Blasius, Gail Blasius, John Ferriss, John McGuire, Elizabeth McGuire

1. Meeting was called to order at 7:05 pm by Dave Mentzer, and Quorum determined.

2. Adjustments to and adoption of the Agenda.
No changes to the agenda.

3. Meeting Minutes — Review and approve draft minutes from September 3, 2025 meeting.

It was noted that Diane Nadon was not present at the last meeting, and will not be voting on the

meeting minutes. There were no changes required to the meeting minutes.

MOTION was made by Dave Mentzer to approve the September 3™ meeting minutes which was
seconded by Katie Quinn.

VOTE: All in favor.

4. PUBLIC HEARING: Application Number #25-092 for new shed to house replica boat; Applicant:
Chris Hale/Lake Champlain Maritime Museum; 4472 Basin Harbor Road; Parcel ID nhumber
07/01/07.BO; Shoreland District (SD-2); Conditional Use.

Chris Hale was present to speak to the application, and it was noted that Bob Beach would be
abstaining from the vote on the application due to his connection with Basin Harbor. Katie Hill

noted that the application, the parcel data sheet, and some extra drawings were on the table for

the board and applicant to refer to and explained that this is in the Shoreland District and
therefore requires a conditional use permit. Further, Katie Hill indicated that the museum
buildings are owned by the museum but the land is owned by Basin Harbor; both parties signed
the application but the applicant is the Lake Champlain Maritime Museum. Dave Mentzer
clarified that the Museum will be conducting the construction.

Chris Hale noted that there is an existing building shown on the elevation drawing and they
would like to build a shed. Participant John McGuire asked for there to be a presentation of the

application materials for online participants which Katie Hill presented. Chris Hale indicated that

there was a display of the existing museum complex on the drawings with the new building in
the middle and that the pink represented the shed structure as well as the proposed foyer.



Norm Smith asked if the in-between building would be the foyer. Chris Hale indicated that this
was represented in the drawing that there was a connecting slab between the building as well as
ramps on the side for accessibility and the posts. Chris Hale noted that the shed would be an
open shed with a roof to help protect the boat that they have.

Norm Smith asked if the idea was to put the boat inside an equipment shed. Chris Hale
explained that it would be a pole barn and they were interested in connecting the boat
(Philadelphia) to the Revolutionary War exhibit which features the boat and this was in
preparation for the semi-quincentennial anniversary of the Revolutionary War. Chris Hale noted
that they were planning to refresh the Revolutionary War exhibit and connect these two
exhibits in addition to ensuring that the boat was wheelchair accessible. Chris Hale explained
that the boat had been in the water for 30 years and this project would make the boat more
accessible to visitors. Katie Quinn asked if the foyer that connects the two exhibits would be
covered, and Chris Hale pointed to the part of the drawings that showed the roofs. Dave
Mentzer asked if it was a cross-gable style roof, with Chris Hale confirming.

Norm Smith asked if there were any questions from Board members, and there were none.
John McGuire and Elizabeth McGuire from 233 Mile Point Road identified themselves but said
they did not have any questions.

MOTION was made by Diane Nadon to close the public hearing which was seconded by Dave
Mentzer.

VOTE: All in favor. Public hearing closed at 7:15 pm.

MOTION was made by Dave Mentzer to approve the application as submitted, which was
seconded by Diane Nadon.

VOTE: All in favor, Bob Beach abstained from voting. Motion passes.

Public Comment
There was no public comment at this time.

DISCUSSION: Approved permit #23-051 for self-storage on Tupper’s Crossing — Jeff Blasius
(Adnik Properties, LLC) seeks clarification of height requirement for the evergreen trees
required as a condition of the approved permit.

Jeff Blasius was present to speak to the matter. Jeff Blasius noted that they intended to plant
the trees once the project had been completed and that at current state it was half-completed
and half-operational. Jeff Blasius explained that the matter of tree plantings was brought to
their attention a few months ago and after looking into the different options and comparing it to
the Town requirements of having 10-foot tall evergreens every 250 square feet, it was
challenging to meet this given the hard clay pan and rocky soil, and the inability to procure 10
foot trees. Jeff Blasius indicated that they planted 5-6 foot high trees. Katie Hill showed recent
pictures of the planted trees and confirmed that the number of planted evergreens conforms
with the number required by the permit condition to provide a landscaping buffer in accordance
with the bylaws.



Gail Blasius noted that they had narrowed down the option to Emerald Greens which grow
roughly 2-3 feet a year and that there was no local option to procure the trees from so they got
them in New Hampshire.

Dave Mentzer noted that it was his understanding that the trees had to reach a height of 10
feet, and that they did not have to be planted at 10 feet so what was being proposed would be
consistent. Norm Smith indicated that he did not believe this required a formal motion, mostly
an understanding of the proposal and confirmation.

Katie Hill explained that this was a condition on their permit and that the evergreens, according
to the section of the by-laws, required 10 feet and asked if the condition would be satisfied.
Bob Beach noted that 5-6 feet was discussed and Dave Mentzer indicated that from his
perspective the condition had been satisfied and asked if the zoning may need to be changed.
Katie Hill noted that the reference bylaw section is for a buffer between the industrial district
and the adjacent residential district and was intended to provide screening. Katie Hill went on
to explain that the tree count from the bylaws results in trees spaced 12 feet on center and that
Arbor Vitae is typically not that wide. Dave Mentzer noted that for the current rules, the
evergreen planting meets the permit conditions.

Joe Blasius made a comment that the by-laws do not indicate screening the building, that it
notes that there should be a barrier and it was not focused on how close the trees would be
spaced together. Bob Beach noted that it was his understanding that it would be dependent on
the scale of the project and what it was so that the building would be softened. Dave Mentzer
noted that a buffer is not the same as a screen and it’s intended to soften an edge.

DISCUSSION: Approved permits #25-016 & 25-045 for Champlain Valley Grain Center — Todd
Hardie seeks clarification whether he needs a new permit application and new conditional use
hearing to increase driveway width from 15’ to 20’ and to relocate the shipping containers to
the west of the approved location.

Todd Hardie noted that he had obtained a construction permit a month or so ago from the State
Fire Marshall and it was noted that the roadway on the project needed to be increased from 15
to 20 feet for fire access and this had been accommodated. Dave Mentzer noted that this was
outside of the Board’s jurisdiction. Todd Hardie went on to explain that the two 40 foot storage
containers which had previously been approved were in the process of being delivered and sited
and there was an interest in placing them twenty feet apart and moving them away from the
other building to allow for more sunlight, and the intent was to move the second container to
the west. Todd Hardie noted that they were planning on turning Building 2 ninety degrees to
allow for the overhead 12 by 14 door so that snow doesn’t fall on the path of the
tractor/combine. Todd Hardie noted that the turned building fits better on the land and allows
a clearer path for the combine and that it may not materially change the application. Todd
Hardie indicated that they are intending to finish the exterior work by the end of the year to get
the building weathered in.

Dave Mentzer noted that it seemed like a sound plan. Katie Hill asked if this could all be on the
same permit or if it needs another permit — which was up for discussion. Dave Mentzer noted
that the applicant seemed like they could submit the updated documents and drawings for the
record but all seemed reasonable. Norm Smith noted that these changes did not seem material
as they were different orientations and they were staying within the same footprint while



adding a few doors. Norm Smith noted he appreciated that the applicant came back in for
approval and for Katie Hill flagging these changes for discussion.

Todd Hardie gave general updates on the project including considerations around the apartment
and sprinklers recommended by the Fire Marshall. Katie Hill asked that the updated drawings
be sent along for the record.

8. DISCUSSION: Scott Baker (Barnard & Gervais) seeks clarification of the required side setback
distance in the vicinity of an existing right-of-way prior to preparing drawings for a Conditional
Use application on behalf of RPM for construction of a new building at 302 Monkton Road
(Parcel ID number 15/02/37.13).

Scott Baker was present on behalf of Barnard and Gervais who was hired by Restoration
Performance Motorcars regarding the parcel at 302 Monkton Road. Scott Baker indicated a
collection of documents including the boundary survey, wetland delineation, wastewater design
permit, site plan concept, and topographic survey were all being worked on to consolidate to
make it easier for review. Scott Baker noted that when he was drawing the site plan, there was
recognition that he was unsure of the setback required from the right-of-way on the west side
of the parcel and wanted to clarify that with the Board. Scott Baker indicated that the bylaws
lack specificity in regards to a setback from a right-of-way on a private parcel and indicated that
he was reluctant to move ahead with a design ahead of checking on the requirements.

Norm Smith asked if this was the setback for the barn, with Scott Baker noting that this would
be the setback from the right-of-way which runs along the westerly side of the parcel and is a 60
foot right-of-way. Norm Smith looked at the definitions in the by-laws and it indicated that
there were specifications around setbacks from roads which were public streets as well as right-
of-ways serving four or more lots and indicated an interpretation that the setback would be
from the property line given the parcel’s characteristics. Katie Hill noted that this was her initial
interpretation when Scott Baker asked the question, but recommended he get confirmation
directly from the Zoning Board as the buildable space is limited and a different interpretation
would have a significant impact on the layout of the project.

Norm Smith noted that the building being proposed would be in the vacant spot on Monkton
Road and it’s his interpretation that the setback is from the property line and not the right-of-
way. Bonnie Barnes, from the Planning Commission, noted that she did not believe the
regulations had specifics regarding the setbacks from the right-of-way. Dave Mentzer noted
that the regulations said right-of-way around roadways, but that this specified access to four or
more lots, and Bonnie Barnes indicated this should have discussion in zoning regulations.

Scott Baker noted appreciation for the Board’s time. Katie Quinn asked if there is an intention
to have the right-of-way serve four lots in the future, given the subdivisions that had already
been in front of the Town with these property owners. Norm Smith noted that currently there
are two lots and that there’s no indication that the right-of-way would give access to other lots.
Katie Hill noted that the Cornerstone parcel connects directly to Monkton Road by the Dollar
General, next to the right-of-way in question. Dave Mentzer noted that the right-of-way would
only serve one parcel and Katie Hill indicated that it could not be subdivided further. There was
appreciation noted for collaboration on the question.

9. DISCUSSION: Updates to Land Use Regulations, with Planning Commission Members.



Bonnie Barnes and Jean Richardson, members of the Planning Commission, were present to
speak to the updates to the land use regulations. Jean Richardson explained that she and a few
other members were the lead in gathering regulations from other towns and making sure that
the land use regulations were up-to-date with state law and included things like rewriting
requirements around accessory dwelling units and flood hazard regulations. Jean Richardson
noted that the zoning regulations would need to meet the updated town plan, which was
currently in-process. Jean Richardson explained that in looking through other town plans and
regulations, they were interested in understanding what issues might be coming forward in
front of the Zoning Board of Adjustment which could be addressed through updates. Bonnie
Barnes noted that there were two Transit-Oriented Development grants that Ferrisburgh had
obtained and that there were two consultant teams looking at the Town Center as well as the
South Ferrisburgh/Vergennes territory and recommendations for amending zoning regulations
would come out of these grants that could be shared. Jean Richardson noted that there was an
interest in looking at dimensional standards adjustments which may lead to less complication
and less waivers. Bonnie noted that there was an examination of dimensional standards rather
than changing things like lot sizes.

Norm Smith noted that in the Shoreland District, all building alterations need to come in front of
the Board which did not seem like it should be in the Board’s purview and may be better suited
to the Zoning Administrator. Dave Mentzer noted that there is a condition around exterior
lighting standards that goes into all decisions and there may be opportunity for creating exterior
lighting requirements that could differ based on the type of lighting — parking lighting,
pedestrian lighting, exterior building lighting. Bonnie Barnes noted an appreciation for having
different specifications based on the use and noted that denser developments would require
this as part of every application. Diane Nadon asked about Dark Skies specifications, which Jean
Richardson noted was in the Town Plan and could be elevated. Katie Hill explained that there is
no performance standard in the by-laws other than nuisance glare which is challenging to
enforce. Bonnie Barnes noted that she could see performance standards as part of permitting
and application stages.

Katie Quinn noted that the current by-laws do not have specifics around parking and Dave
Mentzer clarified that while parking areas need to be compliant with design standards, there is
nothing concrete around the number of required parking spaces.

Jean Richardson noted that they were contemplating removing the term "primary use." Bonnie
Barnes explained that the current usage of “primary use” sometimes leads to misinterpretation
of what a “use” is. Bonnie Barnes went onto explain that they were considering what they
would like to see on lots as infill development, possibly orienting towards ensuring that
incompatible uses were not too close together and giving thought to dimensional standards.

Jean Richardson noted that in addition to the primary use discussion, there was also discussion
around increases in lot coverage and this may not be applicable to districts like RA-5 but instead
to areas where they would like to see more dense development. Norm Smith asked if this was
mainly related to footprints of buildings. Katie Hill noted that this would also include impervious
surfaces. Diane Nadon asked about the reason for this change, with Jean Richardson explaining
that other towns do not use primary use and they use a combination of tactics. Jean Richardson
noted that they were contemplating changing setbacks and doing a tabular analysis to evaluate
increases to lot coverage with the current consultants siting as much as 80% to 90% in very



dense areas. Norm Smith noted that South Burlington had 95% lot coverage for some of their
developments.

Jean Richardson noted that there is a desire to keep Ferrisburgh’s character and asked about
decreasing setbacks such as instead of having a side yard being 25 feet, reducing it to 5 feet.
Norm Smith noted that they do grant a number of waivers for these reasons. Bonnie Barnes
noted that amending these setbacks could lead to less cluttered agendas for the Board. Dave
Mentzer noted that he was curious if they could do a combination of setbacks so that if a side
yard setback was 5 feet, there could also be a rule that there needs to be maintenance of a 30
foot buffer between adjacent structures and this may lead to some applicants having first-pass
at siting before other development takes place. There was a discussion of the history of
setbacks and current considerations like heat pump condensing units.

Katie Quinn noted that most waivers are granted as there’s nothing impeding development as
there are some small lots with neighbors far away. Bob Beach indicated that in the past,
variances were more challenging to grant given some of the requirements around the applicant
not creating the hardship. Jean Richardson indicated they were interested in adjusting language
to be more effective and meet needs.

Diane Nadon noted that she is not supportive of changing the regulations to encourage
increased density as it seems inconsistent with the character of the town. Dave Mentzer asked
if it was a thought around more dense development not being needed with there being other
transportation hubs located farther away. Norm Smith noted that density should be focused
and intentionally sited with other infrastructure like sidewalks. Jean Richardson indicated she
appreciated the point of view and that it was in alignment with other sentiments expressed
during town-wide outreach and there was consideration of dense development that was
appropriate for the Town. There was discussion around the intention for density and the
available resources the Town had, with citation to Regional Planning Commission housing
targets and what that would mean for the Town.

Diane Nadon asked that there be a central repository for planning documents to be shared with
the Zoning Board of Adjustment and reiterated a desire to limit sprawl. Jean Richardson
committed to sharing a draft document with the Board and making clear what the different
districts would look like and requested review and feedback when distributed. Dave Mentzer
noted a preference in lieu of having primary use in the code to be able to identify what the uses
are for compatibility reasons as well as for considerations within the building and fire codes.
Dave Mentzer also pointed out the need to have buffers for adjacent uses that are not entirely
compatible. Bonnie Barnes noted that moving forward within the realm of permitting they
would want to have specific regulations around conditional use and switching uses requiring
different performance standards.

Katie Hill asked the Board about existing language in the by-laws around criteria for conditional
use approval and noted that the criteria aren't always discussed during hearings. Katie Hill
explained that these criteria can be set by each town and it may be helpful to review what is in
that section and consider if changes are needed. Dave Mentzer noted that the conditional use
criteria should be addressed in the application. Dave Mentzer noted that sometimes they are
not fully addressed by the applicant, while Bob Beach indicated that all of the Shoreland District



is conditional use. There was discussion around the quality of applications and applicant
support provided.

Bonnie Barnes and Jean Richardson noted that they were happy to take email comments at any
time and that while the zoning updates needed to reflect the Town Plan and resident interests,
they were open to other modifications. Katie Hill indicated that there could be some added
specificity around when a conditional use hearing is required, especially for minor enlargements
of a structure with no change in use. Norm Smith noted that it may be helpful to draw better
boundaries around conditional use permits. Katie Hill noted that it’s not currently within the
statute and it’s up to the Town to decide what uses are "permitted" and what is "conditional."
Bonnie Barnes took note of the commentary for updates and noted Section 10.8.A for
reference. Jean Richardson asked for written comments from Katie Hill as well as the Board.

10. Other business:

a. Interview Shane Lawrence for open position on Zoning Board
Shane Lawrence was introduced and noted that he was referred to the Board by Clark
Hinsdale and having grown up in Ferrisburgh, he was interested in getting more involved
in the community and to learn more about the zoning process. Bob Beach asked what
his profession was, and Shane Lawrence noted he was the Road Foreman in Monkton.
There was discussion around the nature of this evening’s meeting as compared to
typical duties of the Zoning Board of Discussion.

Bob Beach asked if the applicant had any concerns, and Shane Lawrence said he did not.
Shane Lawrence explained that he is most interested in learning more about the Town
and its operations and noted that his grandmother had been Chair of the Selectboard,
which was partially his motivation given how much she contributed to the community.
Norm Smith indicated that they could send along a recommendation for appointment.

Norm Smith explained some of the operations of the Board noting that they met the
first Wednesday of every month and the agenda can be varied. Bob Beach asked about
objectivity and Dave Mentzter stressed the importance of being able to interpret rules
and follow them. Shane Lawrence noted that the same applies for his position in
Monkton as he is responsible for enforcing and following rules. Bob Beach noted that
within the Town the people who own land have the right to get a permit for what is
allowed and that it’s the obligation of the Board to accept the proposal so long as it
meets the criteria so it is important not to carry personal bias around specific proposals.
Shane Lawrence noted that he agreed with that perspective. Dave Mentzer noted that
the Board was not a Design Review Board and that while material choices are
sometimes requested, it is not the main focus. There was discussion and support of the
Board’s values around objectivity. There was further discussion around the nature of
road commissioners, whether they be appointed or hired.

b. For information — Fence and drainage information approved by ZA for conditions on
approved permit #25-046 Ivey/Long Point Association
Katie Hill noted that Long Point provided a letter from a Professional Engineer indicating
no drainage impact to right-of-way or road if a gravel trench is added around the
perimeter of the court to improve infiltration. Katie Hill noted the proposed fence



design is along the road right-of-way and was approved with the elimination of a break
in the fence near the court. This resolve the permit conditions that required action from
the applicant before starting construction.

11. Confirmation of next meetings and events of interest:
a. Wednesday, November 5, 2025 at 7:00 p.m. — regular monthly ZBA meeting

12. Adjourn: Diane Nadon moved to adjourn the meeting, and the motion carried unanimously.
The meeting was adjourned at 8:30 pm.



